STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from York County  
Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHON ALEXANDER PHILLIPS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000324  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent  
Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the court err by admitting the store clerk's out-of-court and in-court identification of Appellant as the armed robber in violation of Appellant's due process rights when the identification procedure used by law enforcement, specifically showing the clerk a single photograph of Appellant taken after his arrest, was unduly suggestive and tainted the clerk's identification making it so unreliable that a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on November 12, 2015 for armed robbery. R. 172. His case was called to trial on February 11, 2016 before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Blaine Fleming and Daniel Porter represented the state, and Melissa Inzerillo represented Appellant. R. 1.

On February 11, 2016, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 165, ll. 7-14. Judge Hall sentenced him to fifteen years' imprisonment. R. 171, ll. 3-9.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENTS OF THE FACTS

Shortly after midnight on the morning of August 13, 2015, a young black man entered the Murphy Express, a convenience store in Lake Wylie, and allegedly robbed the store. After retrieving a beer from the cooler, the man placed the beer on the counter and handed the store clerk a five dollar bill. When the clerk opened the cash register, the man handed the clerk a note written on cardboard that allegedly read, "Give me all the money." The clerk claimed that when he looked up, the man lifted his shirt and showed him a pistol "tucked" in his waistband. The clerk collected all of the cash from the till and handed it to the man, who then "took off out the door." R. 12, l. 14 – 13, l. 19; R. 53, l. 2 – 54, l. 20.

The clerk immediately called the police. R. 54, ll. 18-20. He told the responding officers that the robber was a black male in his mid-twenties with "short-shaved" hair wearing a brown shirt and "camo" shorts. He also described the man as approximately 5'9" and one hundred and forty-five pounds. R. 13, ll. 19-25; R. 17, ll. 4-18. The clerk recorded this description in a written statement he gave to law enforcement that morning. While the clerk later claimed the robber had a beard and a "bloodshot" left eye, he did not tell law enforcement about these details that morning nor did he include them in the written statement he provided. R. 74, ll. 13-16.

Security cameras at the store captured the man getting a beer from the cooler and the interaction between the man and the clerk at the counter. The footage failed to corroborate the clerk's allegations that the man showed him a pistol. The footage never shows the man with a weapon. R. 80, ll. 13-16; See State's Exhibit No. 12 (Surveillance Video).

On the afternoon after the robbery, law enforcement released still shots from the surveillance footage to the media in an attempt to identify the robber. Based on a tip from an individual identifying the man in the footage as Appellant, police arrested Appellant on August 17,

2015, four days after the robbery. R. 92, l. 1- 93, l. 16; R. 97, l. 8 – 100, l. 24; R. 107, l. 1 – 108, l. 14.

On August 18, 2015, now five days after the robbery, a detective with the York County Sheriff's Office showed the store clerk the photograph of Appellant taken the previous day when he was booked into the local detention center. The clerk identified Appellant as the man who robbed the Murphy Express. This was the only photograph the officer showed the clerk. R. 17, l. 21 – 19, l. 8. In this picture, which was a headshot, Appellant had a noticeable red or “bloodshot” left eye. R. 174. That very same night after viewing the photograph, the clerk provided law enforcement with a second written statement. In this statement, the clerk *for the first time* claimed the robber had a red left eye. R. 124, l. 20 - 125, l. 8.

#### ***Neil v. Biggers*<sup>1</sup> Hearing and Motion to Suppress**

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress the out-of-court identification of Appellant made by the store clerk and any subsequent in-court identification based on the unduly suggestive procedure used by the detective that tainted the clerk's identification.

The clerk testified *in camera* that on the morning of the robbery he described the robber as a black male in his mid-twenties with a “short-shaved” haircut. He also provided a height, weight, and clothing description. R. 17, ll. 13-20. The clerk gave this description to the 911 operator and included it in the written statement he gave to police that morning. R. 16, l. 20 – 17, l. 20.

Five days after the robbery, Detective Eddie Strait showed the clerk a photograph of Appellant. The clerk admitted that this was the *only* picture he was shown. R. 19, ll. 6-8. In the picture, which is only a headshot, Appellant has a noticeable red or “bloodshot” left eye. R. 18, l. 24 – 19, l. 8; R. 174. The clerk identified Appellant as the robber. That same night, the clerk gave

---

<sup>1</sup> Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972).

the police a second written statement. In this statement, the clerk asserted the robber had a red left eye *for the first time*. In his *in camera* testimony, based on a leading question from the solicitor, the clerk claimed he verbally told the responding officers on the morning of the robbery that the robber had a bloodshot eye. R. 21, ll. 9-15. Despite completely failing to mention the bloodshot left eye to the 911 operator or in his first statement, the clerk maintained that the red left eye “was the prominent feature [he] remembered” about the robber. R. 19, ll. 14-21.

However, the clerk admitted that he “[m]ight’ve forgotten” to mention that the individual also had a beard. The first time he asserted the robber had a beard was at trial. R. 74, ll. 13-16. Significantly, Appellant had a beard in the booking photograph shown to the clerk by Detective Strait five days after the robbery. R. 174.

During his *in camera* testimony, the clerk admitted that he did not pay attention to the robber before he approached the counter. However, he claimed his interaction with the robber at the counter lasted about thirty to forty-five seconds. R. 16, ll. 14-19. Notably, the clerk did not testify about his degree of attention to the robber during the robbery, whether he was able to obtain a good look at the robber’s face or his facial features, or about any of the conditions inside the store that would have affected his ability to view the robber, such as the lighting or whether there were any objects obstructing his view of the robber. The clerk also never testified about his level of certainty regarding his identification.

During arguments, defense counsel challenged the accuracy of the clerk’s prior description of the robber. She emphasized that the clerk did not claim the robber had a red eye until after he was shown the booking photograph of Appellant five days after the robbery. She also argued the clerk did not mention the red eye in his first written statement to the police on the morning of the

robbery or verbally to the responding officers. She concluded that the out-of-court identification was not reliable. R. 43, l. 17 – 44, l. 15.

The court ultimately found the clerk's out-of-court identification of Appellant was reliable.

In support of this ruling, the court said:

He [the store clerk] did indicate that he spent 30 to 45 seconds of interaction with the defendant while he was at the counter, that he . . . had details about him coming to the counter with beer, that he received a note from the defendant to give . . . all the money, he indicated that he looked up at the defendant and said, really; he saw him lift up his shirt, saw the pistol; he saw the defendant ask for any hundred bills that are under the drawer. He testified that he handed the defendant what money he had and the beer and that during that time he was able to get a - - was able to - - those are circumstances in which his identification is reliable.

R. 44, l. 16 – 45, l. 5.

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by admitting the store clerk's out-of-court and in-court identification of Appellant as the armed robber in violation of Appellant's due process rights when the identification procedure used by law enforcement, specifically showing the clerk a single photograph of Appellant taken after his arrest, was unduly suggestive and tainted the clerk's identification making it so unreliable that a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed.

The store clerk's out-of-court and subsequent in-court identification of Appellant as the robber should have been suppressed since the one-photograph identification procedure used by law enforcement was unduly suggestive and tainted the clerk's identification making it so unreliable that a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed.

"An out-of-court identification of the defendant violates due process and must be suppressed when the identification procedure used by police was impermissibly suggestive and conducive to a substantial likelihood of misidentification." State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 557, 745 S.E.2d 137, 139 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012)). "A witness' subsequent in-court identification is inadmissible "if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of *irreparable* misidentification." Id. (citing State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004)) (emphasis in original).

In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972), the United States Supreme Court articulated a set of factors by which a trial court judge should evaluate both out-of-court identifications and their subsequent use by a witness in court. Those factors include: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, (2) the witness' degree of attention, (3) the

accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Id. at 199. The Court said the trial judge should look at the totality of the circumstances when evaluating the likelihood of misidentification. Id. at 196. "Reliability is the linchpin in determining admissibility of identification testimony" and the Biggers factors must be weighed against the "corrupting effect of the suggestive identification itself." Manson v. Braithwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114 (1977).

The United States Supreme Court recognized that single photographic lineups are inherently suggestive. Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 383 (1968). The Court explained that after a suggestive lineup, such as using a single photograph, "the witness thereafter is apt to retain in his memory the image of the photograph rather than of the person actually seen, reducing the trustworthiness of subsequent lineup or courtroom identification." Id. at 383-384.

Here, the detective showing the store clerk a single photograph of Appellant five days after the robbery and less than six months before trial was unduly suggestive because it was a single photograph lineup conducted by a governmental agent. See Simmons, 390 U.S. at 383. This suggestive identification procedure used by Detective Strait tainted the clerk's out-of-court and subsequent in-court identification of Appellant as the man who robbed the Murphy Express. An analysis of the Biggers factors demonstrates the unreliability of the identification.

While the clerk failed to specifically testify about his opportunity to view the robber and his degree of attention, neither factor supports a reliable identification. The clerk admitted that he did not pay attention to the robber in the store until he approached the counter to pay for the beer. R. 53, ll. 18-22. He claimed his interaction with the robber lasted about thirty to forty-five

seconds. R. 16, ll. 14-19. However, once the robber was at the counter, the surveillance footage shows the clerk's view of the robber was obstructed during part of their interaction by the register and what appears to be a lottery ticket display. It also appears from the footage that the clerk did not pay much attention to the man until the man presented the cardboard note and even then, the clerk is looking down and is focused on the register and collecting the cash from the till. See State's Exhibit No. 12 (Surveillance Video).

The clerk's prior description of the robber was also not accurate. On the morning of the robbery when describing the robber to the 911 operator, the clerk never stated the man had a beard or a "bloodshot" left eye despite claiming that the red eye "was the prominent feature [he] remembered." R. 19, ll. 14-21. The clerk also failed to mention the beard or the red left eye in the written statement he gave to law enforcement immediately after the robbery. These are the two main features visible in Appellant's booking photograph, which again is only a headshot, that was shown to the clerk five days after the robbery. Surprisingly, the clerk all of a sudden claimed in the written statement he provided the same day he viewed Appellant's picture that the robber had a "bloodshot" left eye.

Moreover, the clerk wholly failed to testify about his level of certainty in his identification of Appellant as the man who robbed the store. Appellant can only assume the clerk was not overly confident, otherwise the assistant solicitor at trial most certainly would have elicited this testimony. Lastly, as discussed, five days had passed between the robbery and the clerk's identification. During those five days, the clerk was unable to provide a more specific description of the robber besides his race, hairstyle, age-range, and height and weight. More specifically, the clerk never claimed the robber had a beard or a "bloodshot" left eye or recorded these details in a written statement during that period.