ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
The Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000324

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JONATHON ALEXANDER PHILLIPS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

Kevin Bracket
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
York, SC 29745

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 03 2017

Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the store clerk's out-of-court and in-court identification of Appellant; however, any error in admitting the clerk's identification testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In November 2015, the York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Jonathan Alexander Phillips of one count of armed robbery in connection with an August 2015 robbery of a convenience store. The case was called for a jury trial on February 10, 2016, before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge.

Appellant moved pre-trial to suppress the store clerk's out-of-court and in-court identification of Appellant, arguing the out-of-court identification procedure was unduly suggestive such that it tainted any subsequent in-court identification. The circuit court conducted a hearing on the issue under Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 26-27; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 2-3).

At the hearing, Appellant's mother testified she heard Appellant was involved in a robbery, and she contacted a relative who worked with law enforcement. Officers came to her home and showed her a photograph taken from the store surveillance video, and she identified Appellant as the person in the photograph. (TT, pp. 28-35; R., pp. 4-11).

The store clerk testified he was working at the Murphy Express in Lake Wylie, South Carolina, on the evening of August 13, 2015. A man came up to the counter purportedly to buy a beer, but when the clerk opened the cash register to get the man's change, the man slid a note to him demanding all the money. The man showed the clerk a pistol under his shirt, and the clerk gave him all the money from the cash register. After the man left, the clerk called 911, and when police arrived, he showed them the store's surveillance video with images of the robber. (TT, pp. 36-39; R., pp. 12-15).

The clerk testified he interacted with the robber for thirty to forty-five seconds and he saw the man's face. He told the police the man was a black male in his mid-twenties, weighed about 145 pounds, wore a brown shirt and camo shorts, had short shaved hair, and one of his

eyes was bloodshot. Several days after the robbery, a police officer showed him a picture of Appellant's face, and he identified Appellant as the man who robbed the store. (TT, pp. 36-45; R., pp. 12-21).

Lieutenant Rick Thomasson of the York City Police Department testified Appellant's mother, who was married to his cousin, contacted him about the robbery. After speaking with her, Thomasson viewed the store surveillance video and recognized Appellant as the person who robbed the store. He and other officers took a still photograph from the video to Appellant's mother, and she identified Appellant as the person in the photograph. (State's Exhibit 2).¹ Several days later, Appellant turned himself in to Thomasson, who immediately noticed one of Appellant's eyes was very bloodshot. (TT, pp. 46-56; R., pp. 22-32).

After hearing arguments, the circuit court found the out-of-court identifications by Appellant's mother and Thomasson was based on their personal familiarity with Appellant, the video and photograph at issue were not unduly suggestive, and thus, their identification testimony was admissible. The court then heard additional testimony regarding the photograph shown to the store clerk, and found the clerk's out-of-court identification was reliable based on the amount of time he interacted with the robber, and the photograph at issue was not unduly suggestive, so the clerk's identification testimony also admissible. (TT, pp. 56-69; R., pp. 32-45).

The State's witnesses testified before the jury consistent with their pre-trial testimony. (TT, pp. 102-136, 145-186; R., pp. 51-85, 86-127). The jury convicted Appellant as indicted, and the circuit court sentenced him to fifteen years incarceration. (TT, pp. 231-237; R., pp. 165-171). This appeal followed.

¹State's Exhibits 2-11 (Still Shot Photos), State's Exhibit 12 (In-store Video), and State's Exhibit 13 (Defendant's Mug Shot) will be transported to the Court for consideration.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the store clerk's out-of-court and in-court identification of Appellant; however, any error in admitting the clerk's identification testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the store clerk's identification testimony because it was based on a single photograph of Appellant, which was unduly suggestive and so tainted the clerk's identification there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. To the contrary, the circuit court acted well within its discretion in admitting the clerk's testimony. Further, any possible error in admitting the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only, and whether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000). Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is within the trial judge's discretion, which will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

B. Identification Evidence

"A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification." State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore). Biggers established a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of an out-of-court identification: 1: the court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly

suggestive; and 2) then determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. *Id.* If the court determines the confrontation procedure was suggestive, the central question becomes whether under the totality of the circumstances the identification was reliable. *Id.* Those rules do not apply, however, when the identification is based on the witness' personal knowledge of the defendant. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012).

In this case, immediately after the robbery the clerk gave a fairly detailed and accurate description of the robber, including the robber's very bloodshot eye.² The clerk had ample time to view the robber's face, his attention was acute in part because of the robber's gun, and he showed no hesitation in identifying Appellant as the man who robbed the store. While several days passed between the robbery and the clerk's viewing of Appellant's photograph, the photograph showed only Appellant's face, and as the circuit court found, nothing about the photograph suggested it was connected to any criminal activity by Appellant. (TT, pp. 68-69, State's Exhibit 13; R., pp. 44-45, 174). Therefore, the clerk's identification satisfied the Bigger factors, and the circuit court acted within its discretion in admitting the clerk's identification testimony.

C. Harmless Error

Even assuming error in admitting the clerk's testimony, however, the error was clearly harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. "A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case." No definite rule of law governs the finding that an error was

²There was some confusion regarding when the clerk told police about the bloodshot eye because it was not included in his original written statement. The clerk definitively testified he told police about the eye the night of the robbery, and wrote the additional statement days later just to add that fact. He also testified he wrote the second statement before police showed him Appellant's photograph. (TT, pp. 41-42, 45, 107, 128-130, 134; R., pp. 17-18, 69, 21, 56, 77-79, 83).

harmless; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. In considering whether error is harmless, a case's particular facts must be considered along with various factors including: "the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case." Liverman, 727 S.E.2d at 427 (internal citations omitted). The harmless error analysis centers on whether beyond a reasonable doubt the error did not contribute to the guilty verdict. State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012).

Appellant blatantly ignores the identification testimony of Appellant's mother and Thomasson, which was based on their personal knowledge of, and familial relationship with, Appellant. Their testimony, standing alone, was more than sufficient to support the jury's finding of guilt. Therefore, even if the circuit court erred in admitting the clerk's identification testimony, it was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State submits the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.